

NF1 in Other Organs



Emma Burkitt Wright, Michael Burkitt, and Hilde Brems

Contents

8.1	Cardiovascular Complications of NF1		102
	8.1.1	Hypertension.	102
	8.1.2	Phaeochromocytoma.	103
	8.1.3	Congenital Heart Disease in NF1	103
8.2	2 Lymphatic Abnormalities		105
8.3	Gastrointestinal		105
	8.3.1	Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumours.	106
	8.3.2	Neuroendocrine Tumours.	106
	8.3.3	Gastrointestinal Neurofibromas, Adenomas, Other Polyps and Carcinomas	107

E. Burkitt Wright (🖂)

Division of Evolution and Genomic Sciences, University of Manchester, Manchester Academic Health Sciences Centre, Manchester, UK e-mail: emma.burkitt-wright@mft.nhs.uk

M. Burkitt

Gastrointestinal Medicine and Surgery, Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester Academic Health Sciences Centre, Manchester, UK

Division of Diabetes, Endocrinology and Gastroenterology, University of Manchester, Manchester Academic Health Sciences Centre, Manchester, UK e-mail: mike.burkitt@mft.nhs.uk

H. Brems

Clinical Department of Human Genetics, KU Leuven-University of Leuven, University Hospitals Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

Department of Human Genetics, KU Leuven-University of Leuven, Leuven, Belgium e-mail: hilde.brems@kuleuven.be

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

NHSE Highly Specialised Service for Complex NF1, Manchester Centre for Genomic Medicine, Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester Academic Health Sciences Centre, Manchester, UK

G. Tadini et al. (eds.), *Multidisciplinary Approach to Neurofibromatosis Type 1*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92450-2_8

8.4	GI Motility in NF1: Abnormalities of Structure and Function of the Enteric			
	Nervous System			
	8.4.1	Gastroparesis	108	
	8.4.2	Irritable Bowel Syndrome and Constipation	108	
8.5	Urogenital Features of NF1		109	
	8.5.1	NF1 in the Genital Tract	109	
	8.5.2	NF1 in the Urinary Tract	109	
8.6	Pulmonary		110	
	8.6.1	Neurofibromatosis Type I-Associated Diffuse Lung Disease	110	
	8.6.2	NF1-Associated Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension.	110	
8.7	Haematological.			
8.8	Glomus Tumours			
Refe	References			

8.1 Cardiovascular Complications of NF1

Cardiovascular disease is a common cause of mortality in NF1. Cerebrovascular disease can occur at any age, and the risk of childhood stroke, particularly haemorrhagic stroke, is significantly elevated [2]. Hypertension appears a strong risk factor for paediatric stroke in NF1, but less so for adult stroke. Abnormal arterial anatomy with ectatic or stenotic vessels and intracranial aneurysms is frequently seen. The internal carotid, middle cerebral or anterior cerebral arteries are most likely to be involved [3], with the appearance of moya moya a frequent consequence. This may be amenable to treatment by pial synangiosis, with a resultant improvement in outcome [3].

8.1.1 Hypertension

The incidence of hypertension in NF1 is higher than in age-matched general populations. This increase is especially notable in childhood, warranting lifelong 6–12 monthly surveillance from as early as is practicable. Dubov et al. [4] noted blood pressure recordings above the 95th centile for age in 20% of measurements made in a paediatric NF1 cohort, with 6% of patients having persistent hypertension. No association with obesity was identified. Renal artery stenosis and phaeochromocytoma are the most characteristic specific causes of hypertension to occur in association with NF1, but essential hypertension is common, accounting for over 50% of high blood pressure in this patient group. No difference in the management of essential hypertension is recognised between people with or without NF1, once underlying causes have been excluded.

8.1.1.1 Renal Artery Stenosis and Mid-Aortic Syndrome

Renal artery stenosis has been estimated to affect 2% of patients with NF1, and classically presents in childhood. It may be unilateral or bilateral. Renal revascularisation may be effective in managing this condition, which may be due to localised

fibromuscular dysplasia as in sporadic cases, or represent a manifestation of a more generalised NF1-associated vasculopathy. Compression of vessels by neurofibroma or diffuse neurofibromatous tissue has also been postulated as a mechanism for renal hypertension. Further manifestations of vasculopathy include aneurysms (in up to 30% of patients [5], with spontaneous rupture of accessory renal artery aneurysm reported [6], for example). Venous aneurysms may also occur [7].

NF1 is the commonest identified genetic cause of mid-aortic syndrome [8], a rare presentation which results from severe narrowing of the abdominal aorta and associated arteries, often associated with extensive vasculopathy elsewhere. Whilst a rare manifestation of NF1, it may be very difficult to treat if multiple vessels are stenosed, and result in severe hypertension, particularly if the renal vessels are involved.

8.1.2 Phaeochromocytoma

Phaeochromocytoma is estimated to affect 2% of patients with NF1 [9]. Tumours may present in childhood, though this is rare. NF1-associated phaeochromocytoma may present in a less typical manner than in patients without NF1. Hypertension may not be detected and the high prevalence of anxiety and other neurobehavioural features in NF1 can also confound the identification of adrenergic symptoms. Similar to observations of phaeochromocytoma in other contexts, the adrenal medulla is the commonest site of origin and 12% of NF1-associated phaeochromocytomas are malignant when examined histologically. Bilateral tumours appear rare. Compared to sporadic phaeochromocytoma, NF1-associated lesions are on average smaller when detected, with less evidence of hypertension, but this may reflect early diagnosis following a higher index of suspicion, or incidental detection on imaging performed for other reasons [10]. No strong familial aggregation of phaeochromocytoma in NF1 is recognised, but co-occurrence of other neuroendocrine tumours, most commonly within the gastrointestinal tract, is a recurrent observation. Non-functional adrenal adenomas are also a common finding in patients with NF1, and demonstrate biallelic loss of function of NF1, though such lesions are not rare in the general population. Plasma metadrenaline assay is a core investigation in assessing for phaeochromocytoma, though elevated values may be observed in the absence of a secreting tumour in patients who are very anxious, or on medication that results in increased metadrenaline, such as monoamine oxidase inhibitors or sympathetomimetics, necessitating repeat testing.

8.1.3 Congenital Heart Disease in NF1

Ras-MAPK pathway functioning is critical to cardiac development, particularly of structures arising from the endocardial cushion. Where NF1 is dysregulated, Ras-MAPK-mediated endocardial-mesenchymal transition and proliferation are disrupted [11]. The most commonly identified lesions are therefore similar to those observed in other germline disorders of the Ras-MAPK pathway, particularly pulmonary stenosis, atrial septal defects and hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Estimates for the overall prevalence of congenital heart disease in NF1 vary. 2.3% of patients with NF1 in the large early series of Lin et al [12] had a cardiac anomaly, and estimates consistently suggest that such findings are more common than the 0.5% prevalence observed in the general population. Much of this increased risk may be attributable to the congenital heart disease burden observed in patients with type I whole gene deletions [13], prompting the recommendation for specialist cardiological evaluation in these individuals in particular [14]. A low threshold for such investigations may be warranted in any patient with NF1, particularly if any clinical symptoms or signs are detected on routine history or examination. Complex congenital heart disease is uncommon in NF1, with only occasional reports of tetralogy of Fallot [12] and an absence of other complex defects that are relatively frequently observed in other congenital heart disease cohorts.

8.1.3.1 Pulmonary Stenosis

Pulmonary valve stenosis is present overall in 2% of patients with NF1, but the prevalence appears increased in certain families, particularly those with missense NF1 variants [15]. This is in keeping with the previous descriptions of 'Watson syndrome' or 'NF-Noonan syndrome', both of which can now confidently be attributed to pathogenic variants in *NF1* [15]. Pulmonary atresia or more complex congenital heart disease may also occur in such families. Pulmonary artery stenosis has also been recorded in patients with NF1.

8.1.3.2 Other Valvular Abnormalities

8% of 65 patients with NF1 studied by Incelik et al. [16] had mitral valve incompetence (n = 5), compared to population estimates of 1.2% [17]. Single patients in their cohort were found to have aortic regurgitation and tricuspid regurgitation, respectively. Aortic stenosis has also been reported [13]. Whether mitral valve abnormalities are associated with the joint hypermobility seen in a significant proportion of individuals with NF1 has yet to be established. In both the general population, and individuals with disorders of connective tissue, joint hypermobility commonly coexists with mitral valve prolapse [18].

8.1.3.3 Cardiac Septal Defects

The prevalence of atrial and ventricular septal defects appears increased in NF1, though definitive data are lacking, and the published literature may be subject to ascertainment bias. 3–4% of patients with NF1 studied in series have had secundum atrial septal defects identified [16, 19]. Unroofed coronary sinus, a rare cause of atrial septal defect, has also been reported in a single individual with NF1 [20]. Ventricular septal defects appear less common than atrial defects, with single patients reported in modestly sized NF1 cohorts, particularly those with whole gene deletion [13], suggesting a somewhat increased risk compared to the general population.

8.1.3.4 Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy

Findings consistent with eccentric left ventricular hypertrophy have been reported in asymptomatic patients with NF1, namely increased left ventricular diastolic posterior wall thickness and intraventricular diastolic septal thickness [13]. The significance of these remains unclear, but arrhythmias or more severe degrees of myocardial hypertrophy are not known to be associated with NF1, and hence their presence should prompt consideration of an additional cause. Foetal onset of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, as may be observed in Noonan syndrome, has only extremely rarely been reported in association with NF1 [21].

8.1.3.5 Sudden Cardiac Death

Whilst fatal arrhythmias have not been attributed to NF1, sudden cardiac death, including in childhood, is a recurrently reported rare complication. Cardiovascular causes are a major source of the excess childhood mortality observed in NF1. Kanter et al. [22] reported two unrelated patients with coronary artery occlusion likely to be due to NF1-associated vasculopathy. The pathogenesis of vasculopathy in NF1 is incompletely understood, but is a recognised manifestation throughout the vasculature (see discussion of moya-moya in Chap. 13). Another patient with whole gene deletion was reported to have died suddenly at 16 years of age of myocardial infarction, with multiple coronary artery aneursyms identified at post-mortem [23]. The prevalence of coronary artery disease in the general adult population may lead to underascertainment of NF1-associated arteriopathy in patients with other identifiable risk factors. Intramyocardial vasculopathy as the likely cause of sudden death was reported in a 33-year-old patient by Hamilton et al. [24]. Within the vessels, regions of intimal thickening with high cellularity were present, as were areas of fibrotic, hypocellular lipidpoor plaque formation.

8.1.3.6 Intracardiac Tumours

Intracardiac tumours are very rarely reported in NF1. Two of 16 patients with whole gene deletion in Nguyen et al's [13] series had such lesions identified echocardiographically, and only one patient in the 2322 of Lin et al's cohort [12] was known to have such a tumour.

8.2 Lymphatic Abnormalities

Diffuse or plexiform neurofibromatous tissue may involve or disrupt lymphatic structures, and result in lymphoedema of affected parts. Resections for neurofibroma, or surgical or radiotherapy treatment of malignancy may also be risk factors for the development of lymphoedema. Whether or not primary lymphatic dysplasia (as is occasionally recorded in other germline disorders of the Ras-MAPK pathway) may also occur in NF1 is unclear.

8.3 Gastrointestinal

Gastrointestinal neoplasia is common in NF1, but the proportion of patients estimated to be affected ranges widely from 2 to 25% [25]. Common lesions associated with NF1 throughout the body, including neurofibromas and malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumours (MPNST), may occur within the gastrointestinal tract. Hepatobiliary and/or pancreatic involvement by plexiform neurofibroma is well documented, particularly at the porta hepatis [26], but is rare. The incidence of gastrointestinal stromal tumours (GIST) and gut associated neuroendocrine tumours is greatly increased in NF1. The question of whether there is an increased risk of tumours more common in the general population, such as colorectal cancer, remains to be clarified (as discussed in Chap. 17).

Despite gastrointestinal tract neoplasia being relatively common, acute intestinal obstruction is a rare sequela of NF1. A systematic review identified intussusception (caused by GIST or neurofibroma), intrinsic obstruction by plexiform neurofibroma or stenosing colorectal carcinoma, and extrinsic obstruction caused by malignant GIST, plexiform neurofibroma or MPNST as recorded causes [27].

8.3.1 Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumours

GISTs arise in the gastrointestinal sub-mucosa, and are the commonest mesenchymal tumour in the GI tract, they are seen in up to 7% of patients with NF1 [28]. The natural history of these tumours diverges from that of sporadic GIST. At the molecular level, c-KIT, mutated in the large majority of sporadic GISTs, is not usually mutated in NF1-associated GIST, and inactivation of the wild-type NF1 allele appears crucial to the pathogenetic mechanism for these lesions, as is the case for other NF1-associated tumours. NF1-associated GISTs may behave in an indolent fashion, and surgery is not indicated for most lesions below 2 cm in diameter, though treatment options are more limited for advanced tumours as tyrosine kinase inhibition with agents such as imatinib, which can be effective adjuvant therapy for advanced c-KIT mutated GIST, may not be applicable. Regorafenib and sunitinib (other tyrosine kinase inhibitors) each have anecdotal evidence for efficacy in patients with NF1-associated GIST [29, 30].

An earlier age at diagnosis is seen than for non-NF1-associated GIST, and in contrast to sporadic GISTs, extragastric locations are more common. Multifocal GIST is associated with NF1, and this, in combination with 'quadruple negative' genotype (no c-KIT, PDGRFA, BRAF or SDH gene mutation identified), may be the presenting feature of hitherto unrecognised neurofibromatosis type I [31].

8.3.2 Neuroendocrine Tumours

Neuroendocrine cells exist throughout the GI tract, secreting gut regulatory hormones. Tumours arising from these cell lineages (neuroendocrine tumours, previously termed carcinoid tumours) affect a small percentage of people with NF1, and can present with consequences of hormone secretion, bleeding, local pressure effects (such as obstructive jaundice from an ampullary lesion [32]), or be identified incidentally on imaging. The most commonly secreted hormone in NF1-associated neuroendocrine tumours is somatostatin, and characteristic histological appearances include psammomatous calcification [33]. Whilst the duodenum and ampulla are the region in which these have been most frequently recognised [34], the prevalence of lesions elsewhere in the GI tract may be underestimated.

Rarely, neuroendocrine tumours can present with carcinoid syndrome, namely facial flushing, diarrhoea, right-sided heart lesions, facial telangiectasia or bronchoconstriction, but this is caused when functionally secreting tumour tissue drains via extrasplanchnic vessels, which usually only occurs in metastatic disease. The possibility of such a tumour should be borne in mind for patients with NF1 presenting with such symptoms.

8.3.2.1 Gangliocytic Paraganglioma

Gangliocytic paraganglioma, a subtype of neuroendocrine tumour, is a very rare complication of NF1, which may have a favourable prognosis. It is most commonly located in the duodenum (90%), expression of progesterone receptor and pancreatic polypeptide is usual [35] and metastasis beyond lymph nodes is rare. Such tumours accounted for only 3% of duodenal lesions identified in patients with NF1 reviewed by Relles et al. [33].

8.3.3 Gastrointestinal Neurofibromas, Adenomas, Other Polyps and Carcinomas

Especially in patients with a high load of neurofibromas elsewhere, neurofibromas may be seen anywhere in or around the gastrointestinal tract. These may cause local effects or bleeding, but may be most likely to be identified incidentally on radiological or endoscopic imaging. Malignant tumours and premalignant adenomatous polyps of the gastrointestinal tract have not been recognised to be more common in patients with NF1, but the relative prevalence of colorectal carcinoma in the general population has potential to mask any subtle association by a lack of ascertainment of all relevant cases, as discussed in Chap. 17. The association of NF1 with juvenile-like hamartomatous polyp formation has also been reported [36].

8.4 GI Motility in NF1: Abnormalities of Structure and Function of the Enteric Nervous System

Dysmotility of the gastrointestinal tract is a common finding in the general population, and therefore it is unsurprising that it also occurs in many patients with NF1. Constipation is the most commonly reported symptom, and first line management is as for patients in the general population. However, the increased risks of gastrointestinal neoplasia and specific causes of dysmotility in patients with NF1 need to be borne in mind and appropriate thresholds for prompt investigation instituted. Exclusion of coeliac disease is important as, whilst no definite association is recognised, coeliac disease may coexist in at least 1% of patients with NF1 and is treatable with a gluten free diet. Untreated coeliac disease may result in diarrhoea, anaemia and malaise and is an additional risk factor for small bowel malignancies such as lymphoma and adenocarcinoma.

Diffuse ganglioneuromatosis is a rare complication of NF1, also seen in Cowden syndrome (due to loss of function *PTEN* mutations) and multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2B (due to *RET* mutations). Presenting symptoms are varied, according to the site and extent of affected tissue, but may include bleeding, abdominal pain or refractory constipation. Whilst any organ supplied by the enteric nervous system may be involved, ileum, colon and appendix are most frequently identified to be involved. Biopsy demonstrates increased numbers of ganglion cells, Schwann cells and nerve fibres. Mucosal oedema and ulceration may be seen in affected regions. Coexistent plexiform neurofibroma of the mesentery has been reported in a patient with small bowel ganglioneuromatosis [37].

The rarity of such observations suggests that, whilst NF1 and MEN2B (in which such findings are more classical [38]), may be considered related neurocristopathies, further genomic and other factors are likely to be important in whether individuals with each of these conditions develop such manifestations. Further work is needed to determine the mechanisms of development and function of the enteric nervous system.

8.4.1 Gastroparesis

Gastroparesis is a troublesome condition that has anecdotally been reported in patients with NF1. It is plausible that autonomic nervous system dysfunction may underlie this, as is postulated in gastroparesis associated with diabetes mellitus [39], but the published literature in this area is sparse. Diagnosis is based on the combination of excluding mechanical causes of delayed gastric emptying and demonstrating objectively slow gastric transit by gastric emptying scintigraphy. An instance of gastroparesis presenting as a paraneoplastic phenomenon in a patient with NF1 has also been reported [40].

8.4.2 Irritable Bowel Syndrome and Constipation

Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) is extremely common in the general population, but adults with NF1 have an even higher prevalence of such symptoms, with an odds ratio of around 3 for IBS and functional constipation [41]. In children, a small systematic study identified statistically significantly larger rectal diameter [42], and 20% of patients had an extended colonic transit time. Despite this strong association, there are few studies looking at the efficacy of specific interventions in patients with coexisting IBS and NF1, hence clinical management of IBS symptoms is similar to management of these in the general population, with the caveat that malignant pathology should be excluded as far as is possible in this group of patients.

8.5 Urogenital Features of NF1

Plexiform and diffuse neurofibromas involving the genitalia are unusual. Plexiforms involving the bladder and lower ureters have been reported somewhat more frequently, with the majority identified in males in early series [43]. The function of the urinary and genital tracts may be affected by adjacent pelvic neurofibromas or involvement of the nerve plexus supplying them. Urogenital malignancy risk in NF1, aside from pelvic MPNST, is not known to be elevated.

8.5.1 NF1 in the Genital Tract

Genital hypertrophy is recorded in association with NF1, but this literature is largely limited to case reports [44, 45]. Precocious puberty (affecting up to one-third of those with optic pathway glioma [46], and much less common in other children with NF1) may accentuate this. The internal or external genitalia may also be affected by the presence of neurofibromatous tissue and localised overgrowth observed [47]. Anecdotally, males with NF1 may be at a higher risk for cryptorchidism, as is the case for Noonan syndrome and other disorders of the Ras-MAPK pathway, but this is not a particularly rare phenomenon in boys in the general population and standard orchidopexy procedures are likely to be effective. Neurofibroma within the gonads appears extremely rare, with individual reports only [48]. Extensive plexiform neurofibroma involving multiple pelvic organs is a rare presentation that can be particularly challenging to manage.

Physiological aspects of fertility are not usually affected in individuals with NF1 unless pituitary or other endocrine problems are present. Sexual dysfunction may be prevalent for many, frequently interlinked, reasons including body image [49], other psychological factors and concurrent physical or mental health issues.

8.5.2 NF1 in the Urinary Tract

Congenital renal tract anomalies appear rare in NF1 [1]. Hydronephrosis may develop due to pelviureteric junction obstruction or ureteric compression by retroperitoneal neurofibroma [50]. Whilst plexiform neurofibromas of the urinary tract are rare, the bladder is the pelvic organ most commonly directly infiltrated by neurofibromatous tissue [51], and symptoms may include dysuria, haematuria and recurrent urinary tract infection. MPNST of the urinary tract appears, correspondingly, extremely rare, but has been reported [52].

Lower urinary tract dysfunction in NF1 may be due to plexiform neurofibroma involving the bladder wall, spinal cord or cauda equina involvement or compression, or central nervous system problems [53]. Obstruction of the urethra, as for the rectum or vagina, may occur due to extrinsic compression by neurofibromata [54]. Data regarding the prevalence of enuresis are not available, but, in keeping with the developmental delay observed in many children with NF1, it appears more prevalent than in the general paediatric population. A strong association of enuresis with

attention deficit hyperactivity disorder has been shown in population cohorts [55], in keeping with anecdotal observations in NF1, though a recent systematic review [56] concluded that further studies of this are required.

8.6 Pulmonary

Intrathoracic neurofibromas are the most common manifestation of NF1 within the chest, and can pose dilemmas in management, with significant risk of malignant transformation and a lack of symptoms until an advanced stage. The majority appear to occur in the posterior mediastinum adjacent to the pleura, but intercostal nerve involvement or endobronchial lesions are occasionally seen [57]. Neurofibromatosis-associated diffuse lung disease (NFDLD), like NF1-associated pulmonary hypertension, may cause significant morbidity and mortality.

8.6.1 Neurofibromatosis Type I-Associated Diffuse Lung Disease

NFDLD is characterised by apical cystic or bullous change, and basal fibrosis witnessed by ground glass and reticulate appearances on imaging [58]. The cystic changes can increase the risk of pneumothorax and, where more widespread emphysematous or fibrotic changes are present, chronic respiratory failure.

8.6.2 NF1-Associated Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

Pulmonary arterial hypertension in NF1 is infrequent but may be associated with a poor prognosis. Where present, it usually, but not exclusively, occurs in the setting of interstitial lung disease, and age at presentation is older than for other subtypes of pulmonary hypertension [59]. The response of patients with PH-NF1 to pharmaceutical therapies for pulmonary hypertension is not known, and early consideration of transplantation has been suggested [59], with the caveat of taking into account the increased malignancy risk that may apply to patients with NF1 receiving immunosuppressant medication. The observation of NF1 patients with pre-capillary pulmonary hypertension (who have no evidence of interstitial lung disease) suggests that PH-NF1 may be a manifestation of NF1-associated vasculopathy [60]. As for other forms of NF1-associated vasculopathy, the molecular and cellular mechanisms underlying this remain incompletely understood.

8.7 Haematological

The principal haematological association with NF1 is juvenile myelomonocytic leukaemia (JMML). JMML is, as discussed in Chap. 17, a rare myeloproliferative disorder characterised by Ras-MAPK pathway dysfunction, with 90% having an identifiable mutation in NRAS, KRAS, PTPN11, NF1 or CBL [61]. Across JMML, driver mutations in NRAS, KRAS and PTPN11 are usually somatic, whilst NF1 and CBL often exhibit biallelic mutation, with the first 'hit' being in the germline. Whilst spontaneous remission may occur in 15% of JMML, patients with NF1 are likely to have progressive disease for which haematopoietic stem cell transplantation is required. The exact risk of JMML in NF1 is difficult to quantify, but recent Finnish cohort data suggests that this may be lower than previously thought, as no leukaemias were identified in 8376 person years of individuals with NF1 up to the age of 20 [62]. An association between juvenile xanthogranuloma (JXG) and JMML has long been recognised: it appears that NF1-associated JMML is seen almost exclusively in patients with JXG, though the risk for any individual patient with such lesions of developing JMML is only modest. Clinical surveillance with awareness of potential presenting symptoms of JMML is therefore required, and regular blood monitoring may also be considered [63]. The association of other haematological malignancies in NF1 is less conclusive, as discussed in Chap. 17, but the observation that 8/4939 children with ALL enrolled in the AIEOP-BFM ALL 2000 trial were known to have NF1 is compatible with a modest increase in risk [64].

8.8 Glomus Tumours

Glomus tumours are very small mesenchymal lesions (only a few millimetres in diameter) that originate from the glomus body, a thermoregulatory shunt often located in the nail bed of the distal phalanx in fingers and toes. In the past, glomus tumours were often not diagnosed or misdiagnosed in NF1 patients, since it was thought that the pain was caused by an upstream neurofibroma affecting the nerve. The classical triad of glomus tumour symptoms include pain, localised tenderness and cold intolerance. Until 2009, only a few NF1 cases with glomus tumours were described and it was not clear if such lesions were part of the NF1 spectrum. In 2009, Brems and colleagues described 11 NF1 patients with glomus tumours, of which 5 presented with multifocal lesions [65]. The mean age was 40 years with a female predominance. Biallelic NF1 inactivation was detected in the alpha-smooth muscle actin positive cells of the glomus tumour, resulting in over activation of the Ras-MAPK pathway after stimulation. Mitotic recombination of chromosome arm 17q has been detected in 22% of molecularly characterised NF1-associated glomus tumours [66]. To date, about 50 NF1-associated glomus tumour cases have been described in the literature [67, 68], but it has been estimated that glomus tumours may affect up to 5% of adult NF1 patients [69]. Glomus tumours can be clinically diagnosed with physical examination (e.g. pin-point pain) and a single question about the occurrence of pain in a digit during cold weather. The nail and pulp of the affected digit is often normal, MRI may demonstrate the lesions [69]. Surgical removal of symptomatic glomus tumours under local anaesthesia with or without sedation is the only effective treatment and may be curative. In general, the recurrence risk is low; however, when the bone is affected curettage is advised and the recurrence risk might be higher. Glomus tumours are almost always benign histologically.

References

- 1. Leppavirta J, Kallionpaa RA, Uusitalo E, Vahlberg T, Poyhonen M, Peltonen J, et al. Congenital anomalies in neurofibromatosis 1: a retrospective register-based total population study. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2018;13(1):5.
- Terry AR, Jordan JT, Schwamm L, Plotkin SR. Increased risk of cerebrovascular disease among patients with neurofibromatosis type 1: population-based approach. Stroke. 2016;47(1): 60–5.
- Koss M, Scott RM, Irons MB, Smith ER, Ullrich NJ. Moyamoya syndrome associated with neurofibromatosis type 1: perioperative and long-term outcome after surgical revascularization. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2013;11(4):417–25.
- Dubov T, Toledano-Alhadef H, Chernin G, Constantini S, Cleper R, Ben-Shachar S. High prevalence of elevated blood pressure among children with neurofibromatosis type 1. Pediatr Nephrol. 2016;31(1):131–6.
- Ferner RE, Huson SM, Evans DGR. Neurofibromatoses in clinical practice. London: Springer; 2011. p. 1–46.
- Roberts K, Fan B, Brightwell R. Spontaneous accessory renal artery aneurysm rupture in a patient with neurofibromatosis type 1: a case report. Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2019;53(2): 150–3.
- 7. Bartline PB, McKellar SH, Kinikini DV. Resection of a large innominate vein aneurysm in a patient with neurofibromatosis type 1. Ann Vasc Surg. 2016;30:157.e1–5.
- Warejko JK, Schueler M, Vivante A, Tan W, Daga A, Lawson JA, et al. Whole exome sequencing reveals a monogenic cause of disease in approximately 43% of 35 families with midaortic syndrome. Hypertension. 2018;71(4):691–9.
- Ferner RE, Huson SM, Thomas N, Moss C, Willshaw H, Evans DG, et al. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of individuals with neurofibromatosis 1. J Med Genet. 2007;44(2):81–8.
- Shinall MC, Solorzano CC. Pheochromocytoma in neurofibromatosis type 1: when should it be suspected? Endocr Pract. 2014;20(8):792–6.
- Lakkis MM, Epstein JA. Neurofibromin modulation of Ras activity is required for normal endocardial-mesenchymal transformation in the developing heart. Development. 1998;125(22):4359–67.
- Lin AE, Birch PH, Korf BR, Tenconi R, Niimura M, Poyhonen M, et al. Cardiovascular malformations and other cardiovascular abnormalities in neurofibromatosis 1. Am J Med Genet. 2000;95(2):108–17.
- 13. Nguyen R, Mir TS, Kluwe L, Jett K, Kentsch M, Mueller G, et al. Cardiac characterization of 16 patients with large NF1 gene deletions. Clin Genet. 2013;84(4):344–9.
- Miller DT, Freedenberg D, Schorry E, Ullrich NJ, Viskochil D, Korf BR, et al. Health supervision for children with neurofibromatosis type 1. Pediatrics. 2019;143(5):e20190660.
- Ben-Shachar S, Constantini S, Hallevi H, Sach EK, Upadhyaya M, Evans GD, et al. Increased rate of missense/in-frame mutations in individuals with NF1-related pulmonary stenosis: a novel genotype-phenotype correlation. Eur J Hum Genet. 2013;21(5):535–9.
- Incecik F, Herguner OM, Alinc Erdem S, Altunbasak S. Neurofibromatosis type 1 and cardiac manifestations. Turk Kardiyol Dern Ars. 2015;43(8):714–6.
- Nalliah CJ, Mahajan R, Elliott AD, Haqqani H, Lau DH, Vohra JK, et al. Mitral valve prolapse and sudden cardiac death: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Heart. 2019;105(2):144–51.
- Malfait F, Wenstrup R, De Paepe A. Classic Ehlers-Danlos syndrome. In: Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, LJH B, Stephens K, et al., editors. GeneReviews((R)). Seattle: University of Washington; 1993.
- Tedesco MA, Di Salvo G, Natale F, Pergola V, Calabrese E, Grassia C, et al. The heart in neurofibromatosis type 1: an echocardiographic study. Am Heart J. 2002;143(5):883–8.
- Bender LP, Meyer MR, Rosa RF, Rosa RC, Trevisan P, Zen PR. Unroofed coronary sinus in a patient with neurofibromatosis type 1. Rev Paul Pediatr. 2013;31(4):546–9.

- Ritter A, Cuddapah S, Degenhardt K, Kasperski S, Johnson MP, O'Connor MJ, et al. Fetal cardiomyopathy in neurofibromatosis type I: novel phenotype and review of the literature. Am J Med Genet A. 2019;179(6):1042–6.
- Kanter RJ, Graham M, Fairbrother D, Smith SV. Sudden cardiac death in young children with neurofibromatosis type 1. J Pediatr. 2006;149(5):718–20.
- 23. Ruggieri M, D'Arrigo G, Abbate M, Distefano A, Upadhyaya M. Multiple coronary artery aneurysms in a child with neurofibromatosis type 1. Eur J Pediatr. 2000;159(7): 477–80.
- Hamilton SJ, Allard MF, Friedman JM. Cardiac findings in an individual with neurofibromatosis 1 and sudden death. Am J Med Genet. 2001;100(2):95–9.
- Bakker JR, Haber MM, Garcia FU. Gastrointestinal neurofibromatosis: an unusual cause of gastric outlet obstruction. Am Surg. 2005;71(2):100–5.
- Yepuri N, Naous R, Richards C, Kittur D, Jain A, Dhir M. Nonoperative management may be a viable approach to plexiform neurofibroma of the porta hepatis in patients with neurofibromatosis-1. HPB Surg. 2018;2018:7814763.
- Trilling B, Faucheron JL. Intestinal obstruction in von Recklinghausen's disease. Color Dis. 2014;16(10):762–8.
- Miettinen M, Fetsch JF, Sobin LH, Lasota J. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors in patients with neurofibromatosis 1: a clinicopathologic and molecular genetic study of 45 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2006;30(1):90–6.
- 29. Fujimi A, Nagamachi Y, Yamauchi N, Tamura F, Kimura T, Miyajima N, et al. Gastrointestinal stromal tumor in a patient with neurofibromatosis type 1 that was successfully treated with regorafenib. Intern Med. 2019;58:1865.
- Kalender M, Sevinc A, Tutar E, Sirikci A, Camci C. Effect of sunitinib on metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumor in patients with neurofibromatosis type 1: a case report. World J Gastroenterol. 2007;13(18):2629–32.
- Gasparotto D, Rossi S, Polano M, Tamborini E, Lorenzetto E, Sbaraglia M, et al. Quadruplenegative GIST is a sentinel for unrecognized neurofibromatosis type 1 syndrome. Clin Cancer Res. 2017;23(1):273–82.
- 32. Thavaraputta S, Graham S, Rivas Mejia AM, Lado-Abeal J. Duodenal somatostatinoma presenting as obstructive jaundice with the coexistence of a gastrointestinal stromal tumour in neurofibromatosis type 1: a case with review of the literature. BMJ Case Rep. 2019;12(1). https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2018-226702.
- Relles D, Baek J, Witkiewicz A, Yeo CJ. Periampullary and duodenal neoplasms in neurofibromatosis type 1: two cases and an updated 20-year review of the literature yielding 76 cases. J Gastrointest Surg. 2010;14(6):1052–61.
- 34. Noe M, Pea A, Luchini C, Felsenstein M, Barbi S, Bhaijee F, et al. Whole-exome sequencing of duodenal neuroendocrine tumors in patients with neurofibromatosis type 1. Mod Pathol. 2018;31(10):1532–8.
- Okubo Y, Yoshioka E, Suzuki M, Washimi K, Kawachi K, Kameda Y, et al. Diagnosis, pathological findings, and clinical management of gangliocytic paraganglioma: a systematic review. Front Oncol. 2018;8:291.
- 36. Ravegnini G, Quero G, Sammarini G, Giustiniani MC, Castri F, Pomponi MG, et al. Gastrointestinal juvenile-like (inflammatory/hyperplastic) mucosal polyps in neurofibromatosis type 1 with no concurrent genetic or clinical evidence of other syndromes. Virchows Arch. 2019;474(2):259–64.
- Thway K, Fisher C. Diffuse ganglioneuromatosis in small intestine associated with neurofibromatosis type 1. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2009;13(1):50–4.
- Gfroerer S, Theilen TM, Fiegel H, Harter PN, Mittelbronn M, Rolle U. Identification of intestinal ganglioneuromatosis leads to early diagnosis of MEN2B: role of rectal biopsy. J Pediatr Surg. 2017;52(7):1161–5.
- Krishnasamy S, Abell TL. Diabetic Gastroparesis: principles and current trends in management. Diabetes Ther. 2018;9(Suppl 1):1–42.

- Bernardis V, Sorrentino D, Snidero D, Avellini C, Paduano R, Beltrami CA, et al. Intestinal leiomyosarcoma and gastroparesis associated with von Recklinghausen's disease. Digestion. 1999;60(1):82–5.
- 41. Ejerskov C, Krogh K, Ostergaard JR, Fassov JL, Haagerup A. Constipation in adults with neurofibromatosis type 1. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2017;12(1):139.
- 42. Pedersen CE, Krogh K, Siggaard C, Joensson IM, Haagerup A. Constipation in children with neurofibromatosis type 1. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2013;56(2):229–32.
- Deniz E, Shimkus GJ, Weller CG. Pelvic neurofibromatosis: localized von Recklinghausen's disease of the bladder. J Urol. 1966;96(6):906–9.
- Darcy C, Ullrich NJ. A 15-month-old girl presenting with clitoromegaly and a chest mass. Semin Pediatr Neurol. 2018;26:128–31.
- 45. Kousseff BG, Hoover DL. Penile neurofibromas. Am J Med Genet. 1999;87(1):1-5.
- 46. Cambiaso P, Galassi S, Palmiero M, Mastronuzzi A, Del Bufalo F, Capolino R, et al. Growth hormone excess in children with neurofibromatosis type-1 and optic glioma. Am J Med Genet A. 2017;173(9):2353–8.
- Pascual-Castroviejo I, Lopez-Pereira P, Savasta S, Lopez-Gutierrez JC, Lago CM, Cisternino M. Neurofibromatosis type 1 with external genitalia involvement presentation of 4 patients. J Pediatr Surg. 2008;43(11):1998–2003.
- 48. Protopapas A, Sotiropoulou M, Haidopoulos D, Athanasiou S, Loutradis D, Antsaklis A. Ovarian neurofibroma: a rare visceral occurrence of type 1 neurofibromatosis and an unusual cause of chronic pelvic pain. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2011;18(4):520–4.
- Smith KB, Wang DL, Plotkin SR, Park ER. Appearance concerns among women with neurofibromatosis: examining sexual/bodily and social self-consciousness. Psychooncology. 2013;22(12):2711–9.
- Yilmaz K, Dusunsel R, Dursun I, Coskun A, Erten S, Kucukaydin M, et al. Neurofibromas of the bladder in a child with neurofibromatosis type 1 causing chronic renal disease. Ren Fail. 2013;35(7):1005–7.
- Ure I, Gurocak S, Gonul II, Sozen S, Deniz N. Neurofibromatosis type 1 with bladder involvement. Case Rep Urol. 2013;2013:145076.
- 52. O'Brien J, Aherne S, Buckley O, Daly P, Torreggiani WC. Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumour of the bladder associated with neurofibromatosis I. Can Urol Assoc J. 2008;2(6):637–8.
- Bouty A, Dobremez E, Harper L, Harambat J, Bouteiller C, Zaghet B, et al. Bladder dysfunction in children with neurofibromatosis type I: report of four cases and review of the literature. Urol Int. 2018;100(3):339–45.
- 54. Subasinghe D, Keppetiyagama CT, De Silva C, Perera ND, Samarasekera DN. Neurofibroma invading into urinary bladder presenting with symptoms of obstructed defecation and a large perineal hernia. BMC Surg. 2014;14:21.
- 55. Shreeram S, He JP, Kalaydjian A, Brothers S, Merikangas KR. Prevalence of enuresis and its association with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder among U.S. children: results from a nationally representative study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2009;48(1):35–41.
- Niemczyk J, Wagner C, von Gontard A. Incontinence in autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2018;27(12):1523–37.
- Boland JM, Colby TV, Folpe AL. Intrathoracic peripheral nerve sheath tumors-a clinicopathological study of 75 cases. Hum Pathol. 2015;46(3):419–25.
- Alves Junior SF, Zanetti G, Alves de Melo AS, Souza AS Jr, Souza LS, de Souza Portes Meirelles G, et al. Neurofibromatosis type 1: state-of-the-art review with emphasis on pulmonary involvement. Respir Med. 2019;149:9–15.
- Jutant EM, Girerd B, Jais X, Savale L, O'Connell C, Perros F, et al. Pulmonary hypertension associated with neurofibromatosis type 1. Eur Respir Rev. 2018;27(149). https://doi. org/10.1183/16000617.0053-2018.
- Rodrigues D, Oliveira H, Andrade C, Carvalho L, Guimaraes S, Moura CS, et al. Interstitial lung disease and pre-capillary pulmonary hypertension in neurofibromatosis type 1. Respir Med Case Rep. 2018;24:8–11.

- Niemeyer CM, Flotho C. Juvenile myelomonocytic leukemia: who's the driver at the wheel? Blood. 2019;133(10):1060–70.
- Peltonen S, Kallionpaa RA, Rantanen M, Uusitalo E, Lahteenmaki PM, Poyhonen M, et al. Pediatric malignancies in neurofibromatosis type 1: a population-based cohort study. Int J Cancer. 2019;145:2926.
- Paulus S, Koronowska S, Folster-Holst R. Association between juvenile myelomonocytic leukemia, juvenile xanthogranulomas and neurofibromatosis type 1: case report and review of the literature. Pediatr Dermatol. 2017;34(2):114–8.
- 64. Schutte P, Moricke A, Zimmermann M, Bleckmann K, Reismuller B, Attarbaschi A, et al. Preexisting conditions in pediatric ALL patients: spectrum, frequency and clinical impact. Eur J Med Genet. 2016;59(3):143–51.
- 65. Brems H, Park C, Maertens O, Pemov A, Messiaen L, Upadhyaya M, et al. Glomus tumors in neurofibromatosis type 1: genetic, functional, and clinical evidence of a novel association. Cancer Res. 2009;69(18):7393–401.
- 66. Stewart DR, Pemov A, Van Loo P, Beert E, Brems H, Sciot R, et al. Mitotic recombination of chromosome arm 17q as a cause of loss of heterozygosity of NF1 in neurofibromatosis type 1-associated glomus tumors. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2012;51(5):429–37.
- Kumar MG, Emnett RJ, Bayliss SJ, Gutmann DH. Glomus tumors in individuals with neurofibromatosis type 1. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2014;71(1):44–8.
- Harrison B, Moore AM, Calfee R, Sammer DM. The association between glomus tumors and neurofibromatosis. J Hand Surg Am. 2013;38(8):1571–4.
- Stewart DR, Sloan JL, Yao L, Mannes AJ, Moshyedi A, Lee CC, et al. Diagnosis, management, and complications of glomus tumours of the digits in neurofibromatosis type 1. J Med Genet. 2010;47(8):525–32.